
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

PAUL MESEROLE, BRIAN MILLER, 
LA WRENCE MONROE, RHONDA 
PLOUBIS, ALAN STREHOLSKl, JUANITA 
SEIDL and WILLIAM MEAD on behalf of 
themselves and all others similarly situated, 

Plaintiffs 

v. 

SONY CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC., 
SONY ELECTRONICS, INC., and SONY 
CORP., 

Defendants. 

x 

x 

Paul Meserole, Brian Miller, Lawrence Monroe, Rhonda Ploubis, Alan Streholski, 

Juanita Seidl and William Mead, by their attorneys, make the following allegations and claims 

for their complaint against Sony Corporation of America, Inc., Sony Electronics, Inc., and Sony 

Corporation (collectively referred to as "Sony" or "defendants"). The following allegations are 

made upon infonnation and belief, except as to allegations specifically pertaining to plaintiffs, 

which are made upon knowledge. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over all causes of action asserted herein pursuant to 28 

U.S.c. § 1332( d), because the aggregate claims of the Class exceed the sum or value of 

$5,000,000.00, and there is diversity of citizenship between proposed class members and 

defendants. 

2. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.c. §1391(a)(l) and (2). Defendant 

Sony Corporation of America, Inc. maintains its headquarters in New Yark, New York, 

defendant Sony Corporation maintains executive offices in New York, New York, and all 



defendants conduct substantial business in this District, including conduct directed at members 

of the Class, including the promotion, sale, and marketing of their products, sufficient to render 

all of them within the jurisdiction of this Court. The events and conduct giving rise to the 

violations of law in this action constitute interstate commerce, and a significant portion thereof 

occurred in this District. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

3. This class action is brought by plaintiffs seeking damages and equitable relief on 

their own behalves and on behalf of all others similarly situated in the United States who have 

purchased second generation Sony Grand WEGA SXRD Rear Projection HDTV Televisions 

bearing the model designations KDS-R60XBR2, KDS-R70XBR2, KDS-50A2000, KDS-

55A2000, and KDS-60A2000 (the "Televisions"), all of which were delivered by Sony with an 

identical characteristic and inherent defect in a major component called the "Optical Block" (the 

"Defect"). The Defect causes yellow stains, green haze, and other color anomalies to be 

displayed across the screens of the Televisions, severely interfering with the program display, 

and rendering the Televisions unsuitable for their principal purpose. The Defect, which was 

present upon delivery and which manifests itself over time, renders the Televisions unsuitable for 

their principal and intended purpose, in that the color anomalies severely interfere with the 

program display. Despite Sony's awareness of technical problems in the design of the Optical 

Block, it failed to disclose the existence of these problems to consumers. Sony has compounded 

its improper sale of the defective Televisions by acting in contravention of applicable federal and 

state warranty laws and refusing to honor its obligation to repair the Defect without cost to 

members of the Class. 

4. In omitting to disclose the characteristic and inherent Defect in the Televisions, as 

well as by its affirmative steps in attempting to keep it concealed, Sony has perpetuated a 

massive consumer fraud upon hundreds of thousands of unsuspecting consumers within the 

United States who have purchased the Televisions, and spent as much as approximately 
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$7,000.00 for these products. Although Sony has now discontinued its manufacturing, 

marketing, and sales of these defective devices, it has refused to issue a product recall, failed to 

honor its warranty obligations, or take other appropriate remedial action. 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff Paul Meserole resides in Binghamton, New York. Mr. Meserole 

purchased and used a Television, model XBR2, which was knowingly designed, manufactured, 

marketed, distributed and sold with the Defect by Defendants for use in his home. The Defect 

manifested on his Television creating the anomalies noted above so as to result in the loss of the 

benefit of the bargain between Mr. Meserole and Sony. Although Mr. Meserole demanded a 

warranty repair from Sony and gave notice of the Defect to Sony, Sony refused to repair the 

Defect free of charge. At no time was Mr. Meserole told by Sony that his television was 

experiencing a known defect which was inherent to the Televisions. 

6. Plaintiff Brian Miller resides in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Mr. Miller purchased 

and used a Television, model A2000, which was knowingly designed, manufactured, marketed, 

distributed and sold with the Defect by Defendants for use in his home. The Defect manifested 

on his Television creating the anomalies noted above so as to result in the loss of the benefit of 

the bargain between Mr. Miller and Sony. Although Mr. Miller demanded a warranty repair 

from Sony and gave notice of the Defect to Sony, Sony refused to repair the Defect free of 

charge. At no time was Mr. Miller told by Sony that his television was experiencing a known 

defect which was inherent to the Televisions. 

7. Plaintiff Lawrence Monroe resides in Diamondhead, Mississippi. Mr. Monroe 

purchased and used a Television, model A2000, which was knowingly designed, manufactured, 

marketed, distributed and sold with the Defect by Defendants for use in his home. The Defect 

manifested on his Television creating the anomalies noted above so as to result in the loss of the 

benefit of the bargain between Mr. Monroe and Sony. Although Mr. Monroe demanded a 

warranty repair from Sony and gave notice of the Defect to Sony, Sony refused to repair the 
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Defect free of charge. At no time was Mr. Monroe told by Sony that his television was 

experiencing a known defect which was inherent to the Televisions. 

8. Plaintiff Rhonda Ploubis resides in Allen, Texas. Ms. Ploubis purchased and used 

a Television, model A2OOO, which was knowingly designed, manufactured, marketed, distributed 

and sold with the Defect by Defendants for use in her home. The Defect manifested on her 

Television creating the anomalies noted above so as to result in the loss of the benefit of the 

bargain between Ms. Ploubis and Sony. Although Ms. Ploubis demanded a warranty repair from 

Sony and gave notice of the Defect to Sony, Sony refused to repair the Defect free of charge. At 

no time was Ms. Ploubis told by Sony that her television was experiencing a known defect which 

was inherent to the Televisions. 

9. Plaintiff Alan Streholski resides in Rio Rancho, New Mexico. Mr. Streholski 

purchased and used a Television, model A2000, which was knowingly designed, manufactured, 

marketed, distributed and sold with the Defect by Defendants for use in his home. The Defect 

manifested on his Television creating the anomalies noted above so as to result in the loss of the 

benefit of the bargain between Mr. Streholski and Sony. Although Mr. Streholski demanded a 

warranty repair from Sony and gave notice of the Defect to Sony, Sony refused to repair the 

Defect free of charge. At no time was Mr. Streholski told by Sony that his television was 

experiencing a known defect which was inherent to the Televisions. 

10. Plaintiff Juanita Seidl resides in Hartland, Wisconsin. Ms. Seidl purchased and 

used a Television, model XBR2, which was knowingly designed, manufactured, marketed, 

distributed and sold with the Defect by Defendants for use in her home. The Defect manifested 

on her Television creating the anomalies noted above so as to result in the loss of the benefit of 

the bargain between Ms. Seidl and Sony. Although Ms. Seidl demanded a warranty repair from 

Sony and gave notice of the Defect to Sony, Sony refused to repair the Defect free of charge. At 

no time was Ms. Seidl told by Sony that her television was experiencing a known defect which 

was inherent to the Televisions. 
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11. Plaintiff William Mead resides in New Fairfield, Connecticut. Mr. Mead 

purchased and used a Television, model A2000, which was knowingly designed, manufactured, 

marketed, distributed and sold with the Defect by Defendants for use in his home. The Defect 

manifested on his Television creating the anomalies noted above so as to result in the loss of the 

benefit of the bargain between Mr. Mead and Sony. Although Mr. Mead demanded a warranty 

repair from Sony and gave notice of the Defect to Sony, Sony refused to repair the Defect free of 

charge. At no time was Mr. Mead told by Sony that his television was experiencing a known 

defect which was inherent to the Televisions. 

12. Defendant Sony Corporation of America, Inc. is a New York corporation, with its 

principal offices located in New York, New York. Sony Corporation of America, Inc. is the 

United States holding company for Sony Corporation's U.S. based electronics and entertainment 

businesses, through which it designs, manufactures, and/or distributes consumer electronics 

products, including the Televisions containing the Defect forming the subject matter of this 

action, which it caused to be placed into the stream of commerce in this District and throughout 

the United States. 

13. Defendant Sony Electronics, Inc. is a Delaware corporation, with its principal 

offices in San Diego, California. Sony Electronics imports, manufactures, and/or distributes 

consumer electronics products, including the Televisions containing the Defect forming the 

subject matter of this action, which it caused to be placed into the stream of commerce in this 

District and throughout the United States. 

14. Defendant Sony Corporation is a Japanese corporation with its headquarters in 

Tokyo, Japan, and executive offices in both Tokyo and New York, New York. Sony 

Corporation designed, manufactured, and marketed the Televisions containing the Defect, and 

purposefully caused them to be placed into the stream of commerce within this District and 

throughout the United States. 

15. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times, 

each of the defendants was the agent, servant, representative, successor, successor in interest and 
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employee of the remaining co-defendants, and in doing the things hereinafter alleged, each was 

acting within the course and scope of said agency and employment and with the ratification and 

authorization of its respective principals. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

16. High Definition Television ("HDTV") refers to a method of portraying television 

images in high resolution, with a high degree of picture detail and accuracy. As such, HDTV 

televisions command prices several times higher than those for common standard definition 

television sets. Consumers purchasing HDTV televisions therefore pay a significant premium 

for the ability to enjoy the high quality picture such television sets offer. 

17. Sony marketed the Televisions as high end consumer electronic devices 

purportedly offering superior picture quality than that provided by a standard television, capable 

of taking full advantage of the High Definition programming and reproducing video programs 

with a clear picture and accurate color reproduction. Sony's marketing materials represented that 

the Televisions were its flagship rear projection television products, delivering "stunning detail 

and clarity" with "highly accurate natural colors" and able to correctly display 2 million detail 

points per panel. What Sony misrepresented, omitted to disclose and concealed from the general 

public, however, was the fact that Sony knew that the Televisions would exhibit the anomalies 

due to the Defect contained in the Optical Block. These omissions of material fact and false 

claims have allowed Sony to command premium prices for these Televisions, as much as 

$7,000.00 or more, as well as to successfully market the Televisions as suitable for the most 

discerning videophiles seeking accurate color reproduction at the highest resolutions and fidelity 

possible. 

18. Unfortunately, rather than displaying the excellent video playback which 

consumers paid so dearly for, and contrary to the explicit representations by Sony, the 

Televisions instead display the yellow stains, green haze and other color anomalies which cover 

the programming on the television screen. These extraneous video artifacts obscure the picture, 
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distort the color, and diminish the detail of the image, rendering the Televisions entirely unusable 

for the purposes for which they were intended by consumers thereby breaching the implied 

warranty of fitness for a particular purpose. Based upon that implied warranty of the Televisions 

being fit for a particular purpose, and the skill and judgment of plaintiffs and the members of the 

Class, plaintiffs and the Class members unknowingly purchased the Televisions containing the 

Defect for personal use and have suffered damages as a result. 

J 9. The yellow stains, green haze and other color anomalies are caused by a condition 

in the Televisions' Optical Block which projects the unwanted video and color anomalies on the 

screen. The Optical Block is the video component that causes the video signal to be displayed as 

a picture on the viewing screen and the replacement cost for the component and necessary labor 

is approximately $1,500.00. 

20. Sony has known about the defect in the design of the Optical Block contained in 

the Televisions since no later than 2005, as earlier models of SXRD televisions including the 

KDS-RXOXBRI models similarly experienced severe Optical Block problems. Despite Sony's 

institutional knowledge and awareness of the Defects, Sony failed to disclose these problems in 

its marketing of the Televisions, and Sony's Customer Service personnel continue to deny to 

conswners complaining of the yellow stains and green haze that this characteristic and inherent 

Defect in the Optical Block even exists. 

21. Sony's written warranty which accompanies the Televisions purports to provide 

for the free replacement of a defective Optical Block within two years from the date of purchase, 

but onl y provides for free diagnosis and installation of the Optical B lock for a period of one year 

after purchase. Despite the fact that the Defect was present in the Television at the time of 

delivery, well within these warranty limitations periods, Sony has refused to pay for labor or 

diagnostic expenses for consumers with Televisions manifesting the Defect more than a year 

after purchase, and Sony has refused to pay any part of the cost of repairing Televisions which 

manifest the Defect two years after purchase. 
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22. Sony knew or should have known however, that the defective design of the 

Optical Block would render the time limitations in its written warranty grossly inadequate to 

protect consumers from the Defect, and would subject consumers to expensive repair costs. 

Sony failed however to include in its warranty or marketing any disclosure regarding the 

existence of the known Defect, or the gross inadequacy of the limitations period contained in its 

written warranty, rendering these limitations - to the extent they are relevant - unconscionable 

and unenforceable. 

23. Plaintiffs and the members of the Class had no knowledge of the cause of the 

Defect and did not suspect, nor did they have reason to suspect, that the Defect was caused by 

Sony's wrongdoing. Plaintiffs and the members of the Class could not have known or 

reasonably discovered, nor did they have reason to know of, the Defect created by Sony. 

Further, they could not have known or reasonably discovered that the Televisions they purchased 

were defective or that the cause of the harm suffered by plaintiffs and the members of the Class 

was directly attributable to the wrongdoing by Sony alleged herein. 

24. Plaintiffs' and the Class members' lack of knowledge regarding the cause of their 

damages was due in large part to Sony's concealment of material facts regarding the Defect. The 

fraudulent acts of concealment by Sony included the intentional concealment and refusal to 

disclose facts known to Sony about the Defect in the Televisions, which plaintiffs and the 

members of the Class could not reasonably have learned, known of, or otherwise discovered. In 

fact, plaintiffs and the members of the Class did not know, nor could they have had reason to 

know, that Sony's overall malfeasance in designing, manufacturing, distributing, marketing and 

selling of its Televisions was a cause of their damage. 

25. Sony, as the designers, manufacturers, marketers, distributors and sellers, 

warranted, either expressly or by implication, that the Televisions being sold to the general 

public were not inherently defective, and were reasonably suited for their intended purpose. 

Sony breached their agreement and warranty by doing so and Sony made and/or allowed these 

misrepresentations to be made with the intent of making plaintiffs and the members of the Class 

8 



enter into agreements to purchase the Televisions. Ifplaintiffs and the members of the Class had 

known the true facts they would not have purchased the Televisions or paid as much as they did 

for the Televisions. 

26. Although the Defect has been recognized internally at Sony, as of the date of this 

Complaint, Sony has refused to recall the Televisions and continues to deny to consumers the 

existence of the Defect. Indeed, instead of recalling all of the tens of thousands of defective 

Televisions it has sold to an unsuspecting public, Sony has engaged in a "secret recall" offering 

to pay a ~- usually small - portion of the expense to repair the Defect in Televisions of consumers 

who threaten to file suit or take other legal action against Sony, or those who have publicized 

their experiences on the internet. For those consumers stuck with the Televisions, they remain 

saddled with the monthly expenses of paying off their Televisions (which are frequently bought 

on credit due to their high retail prices), as well as cable and satellite services which they are 

unable to utilize. While many consumers have given up in frustration and simply purchased 

replacement televisions, many others do not have the financial resources to fund such a purchase 

or the required repairs and remain stuck with their defective Televisions which remain covered in 

yellow stains and green haze. 

27. The Televisions were sold to distributors and consumers with the knowledge and 

intent that the Televisions be used for the benefit of consumers. Sony and its distributors sold 

the defective Televisions to plaintiffs and the members of the Class in the course of their 

business. 

28. The Televisions were not altered by plaintiffs, the members of the Class, Sony's 

distributors or other personnel. The Televisions were defective when they left the exclusive 

control of Sony and Sony knew the Televisions would be used without additional tests for 

defects. The Televisions were defective and unfit for their intended purpose and plaintiffs and 

the members of the Class did not receive the goods as warranted. 

29. By engaging in the above described conduct, Sony committed acts and omissions 

with actual malice and accompanied by a wanton and willful disregard of persons, including 
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plaintiffs and members of the Class, who foreseeably might by harmed by those acts and 

omISSIOns. 

30. As a direct result of Sony's actions set forth herein, plaintiffs and the consumers 

who comprise the Class who have purchased the Televisions have suffered injury in fact, have 

been damaged and have suffered a loss of money or property for having paid thousands of 

dollars for a product that does not, carmot, and will not, work as represented and that is now 

worth substantially less than what consumers paid and what a non-defective Television would be 

worth. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

31. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all other members of a 

class consisting of all purchasers in the United States of second generation Sony Grand WEGA 

SXRD Rear Projection HDTV Televisions bearing the model designations KDS-R60XBR2, 

KDS-R70XBR2, KDS-50A2000, KDS-55A2000, and KDS-60A2000 (the "Class"). Excluded 

from the Class are defendants herein, and any person, firm, trust, corporation, or other entity 

related to or affiliated with defendants, including, without limitation, persons who are directors 

of Sony. 

32. The Class is composed of no fewer than tens of thousands of persons nationwide, 

and is sufficiently numerous for class treatment. The joinder of all Class members individually 

in one action would be impracticable, and the disposition of their claims in a class action will 

provide substantial benefits to the parties and the Court. 

33. Plaintiffs' claims are typical of the claims of the Class and plaintiffs have no 

interests ad verse to the interests of other members of the Class. 

34. This dispute raises questions of law and fact that are common to all Class 

members. Those common questions predominate over questions that arise on an individual basis 

for Class members. The common questions of law and fact include, without limitation: 
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(a) Whether Sony's representations, omissions, and conduct regarding the 

Televisions were misleading or false; 

(b) Whether Sony's representations and conduct were likely to deceive 

consumers into believing that the Televisions operated properly; 

(c) Whether Sony violated California Business & Professions Code § 17200, 

et seq., § 17500, et seq., and California Civil Code § 1750, et seq., and § 1792, et seq.; 

(d) To the extent other State laws prohibiting consumer deception are 

applicable, whether Sony violated the respective laws ofthose States; 

(e) When Sony initiated the deceptive marketing campaign; 

(f) Whether Sony undertook a course of conduct to hide the existence of the 

Defect from the members of the Class; 

(g) Whether the Defect constitutes a manufacturing or design defect; 

(h) Whether the Defect constitutes a breach of Sony's warranties; 

(i) Whether the members of the Class have been injured by Sony's conduct; 

(j) Whether the members of the Class have sustained damages and are 

entitled to restitution as a result of Sony's wrongdoing and, if so, what is the proper measure and 

appropriate formula to be applied in determining such damages and restitution; and 

(k) Whether the members of the Class are entitled to injunctive relief. 

35. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class and have 

retained counsel experienced and competent in the prosecution of class action litigation. 

36. A class action is superior to other methods for the fair and efficient adjudication 

of the claims herein asserted. Plaintiffs anticipate that no unusual difficulties are likely to be 

encountered in the management of this class action. 

37. A class action will permit a large number of similarly situated persons to 

prosecute their common claims in a single forum simultaneously, efficiently, and without the 

duplication of effort and expense that numerous individual actions would engender. Class 
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treatment also will permit the adjudication of relatively small claims by many Class members 

who could not otherwise afford to seek legal redress for the wrongs complained of herein. If a 

Class or general public action is not permitted, Class members will continue to suffer losses and 

Sony's misconduct will continue without proper remedy. 

38. Sony has acted and refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the entire 

Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief with 

respect to the Class as a whole. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
Unlawful, Unfair and Fraudulent Business Acts and 

Practices in Violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17200, et seq. 
(Against All Defendants) 

39. Each of the above allegations is incorporated herein. 

40. Sony's aforementioned misrepresentations and omissions of fact and wrongful 

warranty practices were largely disseminated and directed from the principal offices of Sony 

Electronics, Inc. in San Diego, California. Therefore, based upon the choice of law rules applied 

in this District, plaintiffs preliminarily identify the substantive laws of California as the most 

likely to apply to the errors and omissions complained of herein. 

41. The acts, practices, misrepresentations and omissions by Sony described above, 

and Sony's dissemination of deceptive and misleading advertising and marketing materials in 

connection therewith, constitute unlawful, unfair and fraudulent business acts and practices and 

untrue and misleading advertising within the meaning of California Business & Professions Code 

§ 17200, et seq. 

42. Sony engaged in "unfair" business acts or practices by the promotional efforts 

undertaken and disseminated. Sony knew that its Televisions contained a characteristic defect, 

and it determined to benefit economically by distributing these defective products to consumers. 

Sony's misconduct offends public policy and is immoral, unscrupulous, unethical and offensive, 

and causes substantial injury to consumers. 
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43. Sony's unlawful, fraudulent or unfair business acts and practices present a 

continuing threat to plaintiffs, Class members and the general public in that Sony has refused to 

publicly acknowledge the Defect, correct its wrongdoing, and provide compensation for the 

damages it has caused to consumers. 

44. Pursuant to California Business & Professions Code § 17203, plaintiffs, on behalf 

of themselves, the other Class members, and the general public, seek an order of this Court 

enjoining Sony from withholding information regarding the Defect its Televisions possess. 

Plaintiffs, on the same basis, seek restitution of any monies wrongfully acquired or retained by 

Sony and disgorgement of Sony's ill-gotten gains obtained by means of its unfair practices. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
Untrue and Misleading Advertising in Violation 

of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17500, et seq. 
(Against All Defendants) 

45. Each of the above allegations is incorporated herein. 

46. California Business & Professions Code § 17500 prohibits vanous deceptive 

practices in connection with the dissemination in any manner of representations for the purpose 

of inducing, or which are likely to induce, directly or indirectly, customers to purchase consumer 

electronics products such as the Televisions here at issue. 

47. Sony's acts, practices, misrepresentations and omiSSlOns alleged herein were 

intended to, and did, induce the consuming public to purchase the Televisions, and violated and 

continue to violate Business & Professions Code § 17500, in that Sony caused advertisements for 

its Televisions to be placed before the general public, but Sony's product did not conform to the 

advertisements. 

48. As a result of the foregoing, plaintiffs, other Class members, and the general 

public are entitled to injunctive and equitable relief, restitution, and an order requiring 

disgorgement of Sony's ill gotten gains, as described above. 

13 



THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
Unlawful Practice in Sale of Consumer Goods in Violation of 

CA Consumers Legal Remedies Act, Cal. Civil Code §17S0, et. seq. 
(Against All Defendants) 

49. Each ofthe above allegations is incorporated herein. 

50. The Televisions as described above were bought by plaintiffs, and other 

consumers similarly situated, primarily for personal, family or household purposes. 

51. Prior to plaintiffs' purchases of the above-mentioned Television, defendants 

violated California Civil Code § 1770 in the following respects: 

(a) In violation of California Civil Code § 1770(a)(5), Sony misrepresented 

that the Televisions were free from defects, when in fact they contain a significant defect that 

results in the generation of yellow stains, green haze and other video anomalies across the 

vlewmg screen; 

(b) In violation of California Civil Code § 1770( a)(5), Sony represented that 

the Televisions were capable ofproperIy rendering a video program and able to do so with a high 

degree of precision, when in fact they are unable to do so due to the yellow stains, green haze 

and other video anomalies which interfere with the picture; 

(c) In violation of California Civil Code § 1770(a)(5), Sony represented in 

marketing mate}ials and product manuals that the Televisions had characteristics which they did 

not have, as the Televisions were incapable of properly rendering video without yellow stains, 

green haze and other video anomalies running across the viewing screen; 

(d) In violation of California Civil Code §1770(a)(7), Sony represented that 

the Televisions were of a particular standard, namely, that they would properly play HDTV and 

standard definition programming, when in fact they would not without yellow stains, green haze 

and other video anomalies running across the viewing screen; 

(e) In violation of California Civil Code §1770(a)(9), Sony advertised the 

Televisions as providing high quality video playback with the intent not to sell the Televisions as 

advertised; and 
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(f) In violation of California Civil Code § 1770(a)(5), Sony represented that 

the Televisions were capable of high quality, color accurate, video display, when in fact they 

were not. 

52. Plaintiffs are infonned and believe and thereon allege that the above-mentioned 

misrepresentations resulted in the sale of the Televisions to plaintiffs and to other consumers 

similarly situated. 

53. On October 20, 2008, plaintiffs' counsel sent letters to defendants by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, that contained notice of defendants' violation of the California 

Consumers Legal Remedies Act and a demand for remedy by defendants. True and correct 

copies of those letters are attached to this Complaint as Exhibit "1" and true and correct copies of 

the return receipts are attached to this Complaint as Exhibit "2", the contents of which are 

incorporated herein by reference. The letters notified defendants of their above-mentioned 

violations of the California Civil Code that resulted in the sale of the defective Televisions to 

plaintiffs, and to all others similarly situated, and demanded that defendants remedy the 

violations. 

54. More than 30 days have passed since defendants received the letters and to date 

they have failed to fully remedy their violations of the California Consumers Legal Remedies 

Act. 

55. By rcason of the above-mentioned violations of the California Civil Code, 

plaintiffs and others similarly situated, have suffered damages detennined by plaintiffs to be the 

thousands of dollars paid for Televisions that do not work as represented and that are now worth 

substantially less than what consumers paid and what a non-defective Television would be 

worth, without being limited thereto. 

56. The aforementioned violations of the California Civil Code by defendants were 

willful, oppressive and fraudulent. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to an award of punitive 

damages. 
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57. Pursuant to California Civil Code section 1780, plaintiffs, on behalf of 

themselves, the other Class members, and the general public, seek an order of this Court 

enjoining the defendants from continuing the methods, acts and practices set out above regarding 

their misrepresentations regarding the Televisions. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Unfair and Deceptive Acts and Practices Under the Various State Laws in Which Class 

Members Reside, Stated in the Alternative to the First and Second Causes of Action, if the 
Court Eventually Determines that the Laws of a Consumers' Residence - and Not those of 

the State of California - Apply to Sony's Wrongful, Unfair, and Deceptive Acts 
(Against All Defendants) 

58. Each of the above allegations is incorporated herein. 

59. Plaintiffs assert that since Sony's wrongful acts and practices were directed and 

disseminated from Sony Electronics, Inc.'s headquarters in San Diego, California, the choice of 

law rules in this Circuit render it likely that the California consumer protection statutes will be 

applied to the claims of Class members nationwide. As the choice of law question cannot be 

conclusively addressed at this point in the litigation, plaintiffs state the following alternative 

causes of action under the laws of the States of residence of Class members, if it is later 

detennined by the Court that the choice of law rules require the application of these State laws, 

and not exclusively those of California. 

60. The practices discussed above, including but not limited to Sony's knowing and 

undisclosed sale of Televisions containing the Defect, Sony's improper and unconscionable 

warranty practices, as well as Sony's false denials that the Televisions contain the Defect, all 

constitute unfair competition or unfair, unconscionable, deceptive, fraudulent, or unlawful acts or 

business practices in violation of the state consumer protection statutes listed in " 59-105 below. 

61. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Alaska Stat. § 45.50.471, et seq. In particular, Alaska law provides, "(a) 

Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of trade or 
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commerce are declared to be unlawful. (b) The terms 'unfair methods of competition' and 

'unfair or deceptive acts or practices' include, but are not limited to, the following acts: ... (4) 

representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, 

benefits, or quantities that they do not have ... ; ... (6) representing that goods or services are of 

a particular standard, quality, or grade, or that goods are of a particular style or model, if they are 

of another; ... (8) advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised; ... 

(11) engaging in any other conduct creating a likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding and 

which misleads, deceives or damages a buyer or a competitor in connection with the sale or 

advertisement of goods or services; ... (12) using or employing deception, fraud, false pretense, 

false promise, misrepresentation, or knowingly concealing, suppressing, or omitting a material 

fact with intent that others rely upon the concealment, suppression, or omission in connection 

with the sale or advertisement of goods or services whether or not a person has in fact been 

misled, deceived or damaged; ... (15) knowingly making false or misleading statements 

concerning the need for parts, replacement, or repair service .... " Alaska Stat. § 45.50.471. By 

selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that the~ would accurately and 

properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold 

and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due 

to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers 

about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Alaska Stat. Ann. 45.50.471. 

62. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Anz. Rev. Stat. § 44-1521, et seq. Particularly, Arizona law prohibits 

"The act, use or employment by any person of any deception, deceptive act or practice, fraud, 

false pretense, false promise, misrepresentation, or concealment, suppression or omission of any 

material fact with intent that others rely upon such concealment, suppression or omission, in 

connection with the sale or advertisement of any merchandise whether or not any person has in 

fact been misled, deceived or damaged thereby, is declared to be an unlawful practice." Ariz. 

Rev. Stat. Ann. § 44-1522(A). By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation 
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that they would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the 

Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in 

whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and 

misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants 

violated Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 44-1522(A). 

63. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Ark. Code Ann. § 4-88-101, et seq. In particular, Arkansas law 

provides, "(a) Deceptive and unconscionable trade practices made unlawful and prohibited by 

this chapter include, but are not limited to, the following: (1) Knowingly making a false 

representation as to the characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, alterations, source, 

sponsorship, approval, or certification of goods or services or as to whether goods are original or 

new or of a particular standard, quality, grade, style, or model; ... (3) Advertising the goods or 

services with the intent not to sell them as advertised; . . . (10) Engaging in any other 

unconscionable, false, or deceptive act or practice in business, commerce, or trade .... " Ark 

Code Ann. § 4-88-107. Arkansas law further provides, "When utilized in connection with the 

sale or advertisement of any goods, services, or charitable solicitation, the following shall be 

unlawful: (1) The act, use, or employment by any person of any deception, fraud, or false 

pretense; or (2) The concealment, suppression, or omission of any material fact with intent that 

others rely upon the concealment, suppression, or omission." Ark Code Ann. § 4-88-108. By 

selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and 

properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold 

and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due 

to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers 

about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Ark Code Ann. §§ 4-88-107, 

4-88-108. 

64. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices or have made false representations in violation of Colo. Rev. Stat. § 6-1-101, et seq. In 
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particular, Colorado law provides, "(1) A person engages in a deceptive trade practice when, in 

the course of such person's business, vocation, or occupation, such person: ... (e) Knowingly 

makes a false representation as to the characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, alterations, or 

quantities of goods, food, services, or property or a false representation as to the sponsorship, 

approval, status, affiliation, or connection of a person therewith; ... (g) Represents that goods, 

food, services, or property are of a particular standard, quality, or grade, or that goods are of a 

particular style or model, if he knows or should know that they are of another; ... (i) Advertises 

goods, services, or property with intent not to sell them as advertised; ... (u) Fails to disclose 

material information concerning goods, services, or property which information was known at 

the time of an advertisement or sale if such failure to disclose such information was intended to 

induce the consumer to enter into a transaction ... ". Colo. Rev. Stat. § 6-1-105. By selling the 

Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly render 

video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their 

screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' 

improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the 

existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Colo. Rev. Stat. § 6-1-105. 

65. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110a, et seq. In particular, Connecticut law 

provides that "(a) No person shall engage in unfair methods of competition and unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or conunerce." Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-

110b. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately 

and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when 

sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and 

due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to 

consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Conn. Gen. Stat. § 

42-1 lOb. 
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66. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Del. Code Ann. tit. 6, § 2511, et seq. In particular, Delaware law 

provides that "The act, use or employment by any person of any deception, fraud, false pretense, 

false promise, misrepresentation, or the concealment, suppression, or omission of any material 

fact with intent that others rely upon such concealment, suppression or omission, in connection 

with the sale, lease or advertisement of any merchandise, whether or not any person has in fact 

been misled, deceived or damaged thereby, is an unlawful practice." DeL Code Ann. tit. 6, § 

2S13(a). By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would 

accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were 

defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by 

the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading 

statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Del. 

Code Ann. tit. 6, § 2S13(a). 

67. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices or made false representations in violation ofD.C. Code § 28-3901, et seq. Particularly, 

District of Columbia law provides, "It shall be a violation of this chapter, whether or not any 

consumer is in fact misled, deceived or damaged thereby, for any person to: (a) represent that 

goods or services have a source, sponsorship, approval, certification, accessories, characteristics, 

ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not have; ... (d) represent that goods or 

services are of particular standard, quality, grade, style, or model, if in fact they are of another; 

(e) misrepresent as to a material fact which has a tendency to mislead; (f) fail to state a material 

fact if such failure tends to mislead; ... (h) advertise or offer goods or services without the intent 

to sell them or without the intent to sell them as advertised or offered .... " D.C. Code § 28-

3904. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately 

and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when 

sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and 

due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to 
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consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated D.C. Code § 28-

3904. 

68. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Fla. Stat. § 501.201, et seq. In particular, Florida law provides, "(1) 

Unfair methods of competition, unconscionable acts or practices, and unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful." Fla. Stat. § 

501.204(1). By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would 

accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were 

defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by 

the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading 

statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Fla. 

Stat. § 501.204(1). 

69. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Ga. Code Ann. §10-1-390, et seq. In particular, Georgia law provides, 

"( a) A person engages in a deceptive trade practice when, in the course of his business, vocation, 

or occupation, he: ... (5) Represents that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not have . . . ; . . . (7) 

Represents that goods or services are of a partiCUlar standard, quality, or grade or that goods are 

of a particular style or model, if they are of another; ... (9) Advertises goods or services with 

intent not to sell them as advertised". Ga. Code Ann. § 10-1-372. Georgia law further provides, 

"(a) Unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of consumer transactions and consumer 

acts or practices in trade or commerce are declared unlawful. (b) By way of illustration only and 

without limiting the scope of subsection (a) of this Code section, the following practices are 

declared unlawful: ... (5) Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not have .... ; ... (7) 

Representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality, or grade or that goods 

are of a particular style or model, if they are of another; ... (9) Advertising goods or services 
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with intent not to sell them as advertised .... " Ga. Code Ann. § 1O-1-393(a). By selling the 

Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly render 

video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their 

screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' 

improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the 

existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Ga. Code Ann. §§ 10-1-372, 10-1-

393(a). 

70. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Haw. Rev. Stat. § 480-1, et seq. In particular, Hawaii law provides, "(a) 

Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any 

trade or commerce are unlawful." Haw. Rev. Stat. § 480-2. Hawaii law further provides, "(a) A 

person engages in a deceptive trade practice when, in the course of the person's business, 

vocation, or occupation, the person: ... (5) Represents that goods or services have sponsorship, 

approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not have ... ; ... 

(7) Represents that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality, or grade, or that goods 

are of a particular style or model, if they are of another; ... (9) Advertises goods or services with 

intent not to sell them as advertised; ... (12) Engages in any other conduct which similarly 

creates a likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding." Haw. Rev. Stat. § 481A-3. By selling 

the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly 

render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that 

their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to 

defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about 

the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Haw. Rev. Stat. §§ 480-2, 481A-3. 

71. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Idaho Code Ann. § 48-601, et seq. In particular, Idaho law provides, 

"The following unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the 

conduct of any trade or commerce are hereby declared to be unlawful, where a person knows, or 
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in the exercise of due care should know, that he has in the past, or is: ... (5) Representing that 

goods or services have sponsorship, approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or 

quantities that they do not have . . . . ; . . . (7) Representing that goods or services are of a 

particular standard, quality, or grade, or that goods are of a particular style or model, if they are 

of another; ... (9) Advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised; ... 

(17) Engaging in any act or practice which is otherwise misleading, false, or deceptive to the 

consumer .... " Idaho Code Ann. § 48-603. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the 

representation that they would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing 

that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be 

obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices 

and false and misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, 

defendants violated Idaho Code Ann. § 48-603. 

72. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of 815 Ill. Compo Stat. 50511, et seq. In particular, Illinois law provides, 

"Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices, including but not 

limited to the use or employment of any deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, 

misrepresentation or the concealment, suppression or omission of any material fact, with intent 

that others rely upon the concealment, suppression or omission of such material fact, or the use 

or employment of any practice described in Section 2 of the 'Uniform Deceptive Trade Practices 

Act', approved August 5, 1965, [footnote] in the conduct of any trade or commerce are hereby 

declared unlawful whether any person has in fact been misled, deceived or damaged thereby ... 

. " 815 Ill. Compo Stat. 50512. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation 

that they would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the 

Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in 

whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and 

misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants 

violated 815 Ill. Camp. Stat. 50512. 
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73. Defendants have engaged in lUlfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Ind. Code § 24-5-0.5-1, et seq. In particular, Indiana law provides, "(a) 

The following acts or representations as to the subject matter of a consumer transaction, made 

orally, in writing, or by electronic communication, by a supplier, are deceptive acts: (1) That 

such subject of a consumer transaction has sponsorship, approval, performance, characteristics, 

accessories, uses, or benefits it does not have which the supplier knows or should reasonably 

know it does not have. (2) That such subject of a consumer transaction is of a particular 

standard, quality, grade, style, or model, if it is not and if the supplier knows or should 

reasonably know that it is not. ... (11) That the consumer will be able to purchase the subject of 

the consumer transaction as advertised by the supplier, if the supplier does not intend to sell it." 

Ind. Code § 24-5-0.5-3. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that 

they would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the 

Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in 

whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and 

misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants 

violated Ind. Code § 24-5-0.5-3. 

74. Defendants have engaged in lUlfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Kan. Stat. Ann. § 50-623, et seq. In particular, Kansas law provides, 

"(a) No supplier shall engage in any deceptive act or practice in connection with a consumer 

transaction; (b) Deceptive acts and practices include, but are not limited to, the following, each 

of which is hereby declared to be a violation of this act, whether or not any consumer has in fact 

been misled: (1) Representations made knowingly or with reason to know that: (A) Property or 

services have sponsorship, approval, accessories, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or 

quantities that they do not have; ... CD) property or services are of particular standard, quality, 

grade, style or model, if they are of another which differs materially from the representation; ... 

(F) property or services has uses, benefits or characteristics unless the supplier relied upon and 

possesses a reasonable basis for making such representation; or (G) use, benefit or characteristic 
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of property or services has been proven or otherwise substantiated unless the supplier relied upon 

and possesses the type and amount of proof or substantiation represented to exist; (2) the willful 

use, in any oral or written representation, of exaggeration, falsehood, innuendo or ambiguity as 

to a material fact; (3) the willful failure to state a material fact, or the willful concealment, 

suppression or omission of a material fact .... " Kan. Stat. Ann. § 50-626. By selling the 

Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly render 

video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their 

screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' 

improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the 

existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Kan. Stat. Ann. § 50-626. 

75. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 367.110, et seq. In particular, Kentucky law 

provides, "(1) Unfair, false, misleading, or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade 

or commerce are hereby declared unlawful. (2) For the purposes of this section, unfair shall be 

construed to mean unconscionable." Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 367.170. By selling the Televisions 

to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly render video 

programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens 

would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' 

improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the 

existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 367.170. 

76. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 51:1401, et seq. Particularly, Louisiana law 

provides, "Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct 

of any trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful." La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 51: 1405A. By 

selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and 

properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold 

and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due 
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to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers 

about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 

51:1405A. 

77. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of 5 Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. tit. 5, § 205-A, et seq. In particular, Maine law 

provides, "Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct 

of any trade or commerce are declared unlawful." Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. tit. 5, § 207. By selling 

the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly 

render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that 

their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to 

defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about 

the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. tit. 5, § 207. 

78. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Md. Code Ann., Com. Law § 13-101, et seq. In particular, Maryland 

law provides, "Unfair or deceptive trade practices include any: (1) False, falsely disparaging, or 

misleading oral or written statement, visual description, or other representation of any kind 

which has the capacity, tendency, or effect of deceiving or misleading consumers; (2) 

Representation that: (i) Consumer goods, consumer realty, or consumer services have a 

sponsorship, approval, accessory, characteristic, ingredient, use, benefit, or quantity which they 

do not have; ... or ... (iv) Consumer goods, consumer realty, or consumer services are of a 

particular standard, quality, grade, style, or model which they are not; (3) Failure to state a 

material fact if the failure deceives or tends to deceive; ... (5) Advertisement or offer of 

consumer goods, consumer realty, or consumer services: (i) Without intent to sell, lease, or rent 

them as advertised or offered; . . . (9) Deception, fraud, false pretense, false premise, 

misrepresentation, or knowing concealment, suppression, or omission of any material fact with 

the intent that a consumer rely on the same in connection with: (i) The promotion or sale of any 

consumer goods, consumer realty, or consumer service .... " Md. Code Ann., Com. Law § 13-
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301. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately 

and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when 

sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and 

due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to 

consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Md. Code Ann., 

Com. Law § 13-301. 

79. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 93A, § 1, et seq. In particular, Massachusetts law 

provides "(a) Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the 

conduct of any trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful." Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 93A, § 

2. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately 

and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when 

sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and 

due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to 

consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Mass. Gen. Laws 

ch. 93A, § 2. 

80. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Mich. Compo Laws § 445.901, et seq. In particular, Michigan law 

provides, "(1) Unfair, unconscionable, or deceptive methods, acts, or practices in the conduct of 

trade or commerce are unlawful and are defined as follows: ... (c) Representing that goods or 

services have sponsorship, approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that 

they do not have .... (e) Representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality, 

or grade, or that goods are of a particular style or model, if they are of another. . . . (g) 

Advertising or representing goods or services with intent not to dispose of those goods or 

services as advertised or represented ..... (s) Failing to reveal a material fact, the omission of 

which tends to mislead or deceive the consumer, and which fact could not reasonably be known 

by the consumer. .... (bb) Making a representation of fact or statement of fact material to the 
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transaction such that a person reasonably believes the represented or suggested state of affairs to 

be other than it actually is .... (cc) Failing to reveal facts that are material to the transaction in 

light of representations of fact made in a positive manner." Mich. Compo Laws § 445.903. By 

selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and 

properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold 

and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due 

to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers 

about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Mich. Compo Laws § 445.903. 

81. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Minn. Stat. § 8.31, et seq. In particular, Minnesota law provides, "A 

person engages in a deceptive trade practice when, in the course of business, vocation, or 

occupation, the person: ... (5) represents that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not have . . . ; . . . (7) 

represents that goods or services are of a partiCUlar standard, quality, or grade, or that goods are 

of a particular style or model, if they are of another; ... (9) advertises goods or services with 

intent not to sell them as advertised; ... or (13) engages in any other conduct which similarly 

creates a likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding." Minn. Stat. § 3250.44, sub. l. 

Minnesota law further provides, "Any person, firm, corporation, or association who, with intent 

to sell or in anywise dispose of merchandise, securities, service, or anything offered by such 

person, firm, corporation, or association, directly or indirectly, to the public, for sale or 

distribution, or with intent to increase the consumption thereof, or to induce the public in any 

manner to enter into any obligation relating thereto, or to acquire title thereto, or any interest 

therein, makes, publishes, disseminates, circulates, or places before the public, or causes, directly 

or indirectly, to be made, published, disseminated, circulated, or placed before the public, in this 

state, in a newspaper or other publication, or in the form of a book, notice, handbill, poster, bill, 

label, price tag, circular, pamphlet, program, or letter, or over any radio or television station, or 

in any other way, an advertisement of any sort regarding merchandise, securities, service, or 
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anything so offered to the public, for use, consumption, purchase, or sale, which advertisement 

contains any material assertion, representation, or statement of fact which is untrue, deceptive, or 

misleading, shall, whether or not pecuniary or other specific damage to any person occurs as a 

direct result thereof, be guilty of a misdemeanor, and any such act is declared to be a public 

nuisance and may be enjoined as such." Minn. Stat. § 325F.67. Minnesota law provides as well 

that, "The act, use, or employment by any person of any fraud, false pretense, false promise, 

misrepresentation, misleading statement or deceptive practice, with the intent that others rely 

thereon in connection with the sale of any merchandise, whether or not any person has in fact 

been misled, deceived, or damaged thereby, is enjoinable .... " Minn. Stat. § 325F.69, sub. L 

By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and 

properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold 

and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due 

to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers 

about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Minn. Stat. §§ 325D.44, sub. 

1, 325F.67 and 325F.69, sub. L 

82. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Mo. Rev. Stat. § 407.010, et seq. In particular Missouri law provides, 

"The act, use or employment by any person of any deception, fraud, false pretense, false 

promise, misrepresentation, unfair practice or the concealment, suppression, or omission of any 

material fact in connection with the sale or advertisement of any merchandise in trade or 

commerce ... , in or from the state of Missouri, is declared to be an unlawful practice .... " Mo. 

Rev. Stat. § 407.020.1. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they 

would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions 

were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in 

part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading 

statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Mo. 

Rev. Stat. § 407.020.1. 
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83. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 30-14-101, et seq. In particular, Montana law 

provides, "Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct 

of any trade or commerce are unlawful." Mont. Code Ann. § 30-14-103. By selling the 

Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly render 

video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their 

screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' 

improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the 

existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Mont. Code Ann. § 30-14-103. 

84. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1601, et seq. In particular, Nebraska law provides, 

"Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any 

trade or commerce shall be unlawful." Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1602. Nebraska law further 

provides, "(a) A person engages in a deceptive trade practice when, in the course of his or her 

business, vocation, or occupation, he or she: ... (5) Represents that goods or services have 

sponsorship, approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not 

have ... ; ... (9) Advertises goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised; ... (c) 

This section does not affect unfair trade practices otherwise actionable at common law or under 

other statutes of this state." Neb. Rev. Stat. § 87-302. By selling the Televisions to consumers 

with the representation that they would accurately and properly render video programs, without 

revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually 

be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty 

practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, 

the Defect, defendants violated Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 59-1602, 87-302. 

85. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598.0903, et seq. Nevada law provides in particular, 

"A person engages in a 'deceptive trade practice' if, in the course of his business or occupation, 
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he: ... 5. Knowingly makes a false representation as to the characteristics, ingredients, uses, 

benefits, alterations or quantities of goods or services for sale or lease or a false representation as 

to the sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation or connection of a person therewith .... 7. 

Represents that goods or services for sale or lease are of a particular standard, quality or grade, 

or that such goods are of a particular style or model, if he knows or should know that they are of 

another standard, quality, grade, style or model. ... 9. Advertises goods or services with intent 

not to sell or lease them as advertised .... 15. Knowingly makes any other false representation in 

a transaction .... " Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598.0915. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the 

representation that they would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing 

that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be 

obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices 

and false and misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, 

defendants violated Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598.0915. 

86. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 358-A: 1, et seq. Particularly, New Hampshire 

law provides, "It shall be unlawful for any person to use any unfair method of competition or any 

unfair or deceptive act or practice in the conduct of any trade or commerce within this state. 

Such unfair method of competition or unfair or deceptive act or practice shall include, but is not 

limited to, the following: ... V. Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not have . . . ; . . . VII. 

Representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality, or grade, or that goods 

are of a particular style or model, if they are of another; ... IX. Advertising goods or services 

with intent not to sell them as advertised .... " N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 358-A:2. By selling the 

Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly render 

video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their 

screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' 
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improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the 

existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 358-A:2. 

87. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, unconscionable or 

deceptive acts or practices in violation ofN.1.S.A. § 56:8-1, et seq. Particularly, New Jersey law 

provides, "The act, use or employment by any person of any unconscionable commercial 

practice, deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, misrepresentation, or the knowing, 

concealment, suppression, or omission of any material fact with intent that others rely upon such 

concealment, suppression or omission, in connection with the sale or advertisement of any 

merchandise or real estate, or with the subsequent performance of such person as aforesaid, 

whether or not any person has in fact been misled, deceived or damaged thereby, is declared to 

be an unlawful practice .... " N.J.S.A. § 56:8-2. By selling the Televisions to consumers with 

the representation that they would accurately and properly render video programs, without 

revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually 

be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty 

practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, 

the Defect, defendants violated N.J.S.A. § 56:8-2. 

88. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation ofN.M. Stat. § 57-12-1, et seq. In particular, New Mexico law provides, 

"D. 'unfair or deceptive trade practice' means an act specifically declared unlawful pursuant to 

the Unfair Practices Act, a false or misleading oral or written statement, visual description or 

other representation of any kind knowingly made in connection with the sale, lease, rental or 

loan of goods or services or in the extension of credit or in the collection of debts by a person in 

the regular course of his trade or commerce, which may, tends to or does deceive or mislead any 

person and includes: ... (5) representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or quantities that they do not have ... ; ... (7) 

representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality or grade or that goods are 

of a particular style or model if they are of another; ... (14) using exaggeration, innuendo or 
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ambiguity as to a material fact or failing to state a material fact if doing so deceives or tends to 

deceive; ... E. 'unconscionable trade practice' means an act or practice in connection with the 

sale, lease, rental or loan, or in connection with the offering for sale, lease, rental or loan, of any 

goods or services . . . : (1) takes advantage of the lack of knowledge, ability, experience or 

capacity of a person to a grossly unfair degree; or (2) results in a gross disparity between the 

value received by a person and the price paid." N.M. Stat. §57-12-2. By selling the Televisions 

to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly render video 

programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens 

would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' 

improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the 

existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated N.M. Stat. §S7-12-2. 

89. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 349, et seq. In particular, New York law 

provides, "Deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any business, trade or commerce or in 

the furnishing of any service in this state are hereby declared unlawful." N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 

349. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately 

and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when 

sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and 

due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to 

consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated N.Y. Gen. Bus. 

Law § 349. 

90. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1, et seq. In particular, North Carolina law 

provides, "Unfair methods of competition in or affecting commerce, and unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in or affecting commerce, are declared unlawful." N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1(a). By 

selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and 

properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold 
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and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due 

to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers 

about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1(a). 

91. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of N.D. Cent. Code § 51-15-01, et seq. In particular, North Dakota law 

provides, "The act, use, or employment by any person of any deceptive act or practice, fraud, 

false pretense, false promise, or misrepresentation, with the intent that others rely thereon in 

connection with the sale or advertisement of any merchandise, whether or not any person has in 

fact been misled, deceived, or damaged thereby, is declared to be an unlawful practice." N.D. 

Cent. Code § 51-15-02. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that 

they would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the 

Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in 

whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and 

misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants 

violated N.D. Cent. Code § 51-15-02. 

92. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 1345.01, et seq. In particular, Ohio law 

provides, "No supplier shall commit an unfair or deceptive act or practice in connection with a 

consumer transaction. Such an unfair or deceptive act or practice by a supplier violates this 

section whether it occurs before, during, or after the transaction." Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 

1 345.02(a). By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would 

accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were 

defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by 

the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading 

statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Ohio 

Rev. Code Ann. § 1345.02(a). 
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93. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices or made false representations in violation of Okla. Stat. tit. 15, § 751, et seq. In 

particular, Oklahoma law provides, "As used in the Oklahoma Consumer Protection Act: ... 13. 

'Deceptive trade practice' means a misrepresentation, omission or other practice that has 

deceived or could reasonably be expected to deceive or mislead a person to the detriment of that 

person. Such a practice may occur before, during or after a consumer transaction is entered into 

and may be written or oral; 14. 'Unfair trade practice' means any practice which offends 

established public policy or if the practice is immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous or 

substantially injurious to consumers .... " Okla. Stat. tit. ·15, § 752. Oklahoma law further 

provides, "A person engages in a practice which is declared to be unlawful under the Oklahoma 

Consumer Protection Act, Section 751 et seq. of this title, when, in the course of the person's 

business, the person: ... 5. Makes a false representation, knowingly or with reason to know, as 

to the characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, alterations, or quantities of the subject of a 

consumer transaction ... ; ... 7. Represents, knowingly or with reason to know, that the subject 

of a consmner transaction is of a particular standard, style or model, if it is of another; 8. 

Advertises, knowingly or with reason to know, the subject of a consumer transaction with intent 

not to sell it as advertised; ... 20. Commits an unfair or deceptive trade practice as defined in 

Section 752 of this title .... " Okla. Stat. tit. 15, § 753. It continues to provide, "A. A person 

engages in a deceptive trade practice when in the course of business, vocation, or occupation, the 

person: ... 5. Knowingly makes a false representation as to the characteristics, ingredients, uses, 

benefits or quantities of goods or services or a false representation as to the sponsorship, 

approval, status, affiliation, or connection of a person therewith; ... 7. Represents that goods or 

services are a particular standard, quality, or grade, or that goods are a particular style or model, 

if they are another; ... C. The deceptive trade practices listed in this section are in addition to 

and do not limit the types of unfair trade practices actionable at common law or under other 

statutes of this state." Okla. Stat. tit. 78, § 53. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the 

representation that they would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing 
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that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be 

obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices 

and false and misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, 

defendants violated Okla. Stat. tits. 15, §§ 752 and 753, 78, § 53. 

94. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Or. Rev. Stat. § 646.605, et seq. In particular, Oregon law provides, "A 

person engages in an unlawful practice when in the course of the person's business, vocation or 

occupation the person: (1) Employs any unconscionable tactic in connection with the sale, rental 

or other disposition of real estate, goods or services .... " Or. Rev. Stat. § 646.607. Oregon law 

further provides, "( 1) A person engages in an unlawful practice when in the course of the 

person's business, vocation or occupation the person does any of the following: ... (e) 

Represents that real estate, goods or services have sponsorship, approval, characteristics, 

ingredients, uses, benefits, quantities or qualities that they do not have .... (g) Represents that 

real estate, goods or services are of a particular standard, quality, or grade, or that real estate or 

goods are of a particular style or model, if they are of another. ... (t) Concurrent with tender or 

delivery of any real estate, goods or services fails to disclose any known material defect or 

material nonconformity. (u) Engages in any other unfair or deceptive conduct in trade or 

commerce." Or. Rev. Stat. § 646.608. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the 

representation that they would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing 

that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be 

obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices 

and false and misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, 

defendants violated Or. Rev. Stat. §§ 646.607, 646.608. 

95. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of 73 Pa. Stat. Atm. tit. 73, § 201-1, et seq. In particular, Pennsylvania law 

provides, "(4) 'Unfair methods of competition' and 'unfair or deceptive acts or practices' mean 

anyone or more of the following: ... (v) Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, 
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approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or quantities that they do not have ... ; ... 

(vii) Representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality or grade, or that 

goods are of a particular style or model, if they are of another; ... (ix) Advertising goods or 

services with intent not to sell them as advertised; ... (xxi) Engaging in any other fraudulent or 

deceptive conduct which creates a likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding." Pa. Stat. 

Ann. tit. 73, § 201-2. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they 

would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions 

were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in 

part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading 

statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Pa. 

Stat. Ann. tit. 73, § 201-2. 

96. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of R.I. Gen. Laws. § 6-13.1-1, et seq. In particular, Rhode Island law 

provides, "As used in this chapter: ... (6) 'Unfair methods of competition and unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices' means anyone or more of the following: (v) Representing that goods 

or services have sponsorship, approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities 

that they do not have ... ; ... (vii) Representing that goods or services are of a particular 

standard, quality, or grade, or that goods are of a particular style or model, if they are of another; 

... (ix) Advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised; ... (xii) 

Engaging in any other conduct that similarly creates a likelihood of confusion or of 

misunderstanding; (xiii) Engaging in any act or practice that is unfair or deceptive to the 

consumer; (xiv) Using any other methods, acts or practices which mislead or deceive members 

of the public in a material respect; ... (xvii) Advertising claims concerning safety, performance, 

and comparative price unless the advertiser, upon request by any person, the consumer council, 

or the attorney general, makes available documentation substantiating the validity of the claim .. 

. . " R.l. Gen. Laws § 6-13.1-1. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation 

that they would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the 
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Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in 

whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and 

misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants 

violated R.I. Gen. Laws § 6-13.1-l. 

97. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of S.c. Code Ann. § 39-5-10, et seq. In particular, South Carolina law 

provides, "Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct 

of any trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful. ... " S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-20. By 

selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and 

properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold 

and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due 

to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers 

about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated S.c. Code Ann. § 39-5-20. 

98. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of S.D. Codified Laws § 37-24-1, et seq. In particular, South Dakota law 

provides, "It is a deceptive act or practice for any person to: (1) Knowingly and intentionally 

act, use, or employ any deceptive act or practice, fraud, false pretense, false promises, or 

misrepresentation or to conceal, suppress, or omit any material fact in connection with the sale or 

advertisement of any merchandise, regardless of whether any person has in fact been mislead, 

deceived, or damaged thereby." S. D. Codified Laws § 37-24-6(1). By selling the Televisions to 

consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly render video 

programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens 

would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' 

improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the 

existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated S. D. Codified Laws § 37-24-6(1). 

99. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Tenn. Code Ann. § 47-18-101, et seq. In particular, Tennessee law 
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provides "(b) Without limiting the scope of subsection (a), the following unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices affecting the conduct of any trade or commerce are declared to be unlawful and in 

violation of this part ... (5) Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or quantities that they do not have . . . ; . . . (7) 

Representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality or grade, or that goods 

are of a particular style or model, if they are of another; ... (9) Advertising goods or services 

with intent not to sell them as advertised; . . . (21) Using statements or illustrations in any 

advertisement which create a false impression of the grade, quality, quantity, make, value, age, 

size, color, usability or origin of the goods or services offered, or which may otherwise 

misrepresent the goods or services in such a manner that later, on disclosure of the true facts, 

there is a likelihood that the buyer may be switched from the advertised goods or services to 

other goods or services; ... (27) Engaging in any other act or practice which is deceptive to the 

consumer or to any other person .... " Tenn. Code Ann. § 47-18-104. By selling the 

Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly render 

video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their 

screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' 

improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the 

existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Tenn. Code Ann. § 47-18-104. 

100. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Tex. Bus. & Com. Code Ann. § 17.41, et seq. In particular, Texas law 

provides, "(a) False, misleading, or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or 

commerce are hereby declared unlawful and are subject to action by the consumer protection 

division under Sections 17.47,17.58,17.60, and 17.61 of this code. (b) Except as provided in 

Subsection (d) of this section, the term 'false, misleading, or deceptive acts or practices' 

includes, but is not limited to, the following acts: ... (5) representing that goods or services have 

sponsorship, approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities which they do not 

have ... ; . . . (7) representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality, or 
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grade, or that goods are of a particular style or model, if they are of another; ... (9) advertising 

goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised; ... (24) failing to disclose 

information concerning goods or services which was known at the time of the transaction if such 

failure to disclose such information was intended to induce the consumer into a transaction into 

which the consumer would not have entered had the information been disclosed .... " Tex. Bus. 

& Com. Code Ann. § 17.46. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that 

they would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the 

Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in 

whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and 

misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants 

violated Tex. Bus. & Com. Code Ann. § 17.46. 

101 . Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 13-11-1, et seq. In particular, Utah law provides, "(1) 

A deceptive act or practice by a supplier in connection with a consumer transaction violates this 

chapter whether it occurs before, during, or after the transaction. (2) Without limiting the scope 

of Subsection (I), a supplier commits a deceptive act or practice if the supplier knowingly or 

intentionally: (a) indicates that the subject of a consumer transaction has sponsorship, approval, 

performance characteristics, accessories, uses, or benefits, if it has not; (b) indicates that the 

subject of a consumer transaction is of a particular standard, quality, grade, style, or model, if it 

is not; ... ( e) indicates that the subject of a consumer transaction has been supplied in accordance 

with a previous representation, if it has not; ... (j) ... (ii) fails to honor a warranty or a particular 

warranty term .... " Utah Code Ann. § 13-11-4. By selling the Televisions to consumers with 

the representation that they would accurately and properly render video programs, without 

revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually 

be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty 

practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, 

the Defect, defendants violated Utah Code Ann. § 13-11-4. 
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102. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Vt. Stat. Ann. tit. 9, § 2451, et seq. In particular, Vermont law provides, 

"(a) Unfair methods of competition in commerce, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in 

commerce, are hereby declared unlawful." Vt. Stat. Ann. tit. 9, § 2453. By selling the 

Televisions to conswners with the representation that they would accurately and properly render 

video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their 

screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' 

improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the 

existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Vt. Stat. Ann. tit. 9, § 2453. 

103. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of Va. Code Ann. § 59.1-196, et seq. In particular, Virginia law provides 

"A. The following fraudulent acts or practices committed by a supplier in connection with a 

conswner transaction are hereby declared unlawful: ... 5. Misrepresenting that goods or services 

have certain quantities, characteristics, ingredients, uses, or benefits; 6. Misrepresenting that 

goods or services are of a particular standard, quality, grade, style, or model; 7. Advertising or 

offering for sale goods that are used, secondhand, repossessed, defective, blemished, 

deteriorated, or reconditioned, or that are 'seconds,' irregulars, imperfects, or 'not first class,' 

without clearly and unequivocally indicating in the advertisement or offer for sale that the goods 

are used, secondhand, repossessed, defective, blemished, deteriorated, reconditioned, or are 

'seconds,' irregulars, imperfects or 'not first class'; 8. Advertising goods or services with intent 

not to sell them as advertised, or with intent not to sell at the price or upon the terms advertised .. 

. . 14. Using any other deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, or misrepresentation in 

connection with a consumer transaction .... " Va. Code Ann. § 59.1-200. By selling the 

Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly render 

video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that their 

screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' 
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Improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about the 

existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Va. Code Ann. § 59.1-200. 

l04. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, deceptive or fraudulent 

acts or practices in violation of Wash. Rev. Code. § 19.86.010, et seq. Particularly, Washington 

law provides, "Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the 

conduct of any trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful." Wash. Rev. Code § 

19.86.020. By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would 

accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were 

defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by 

the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading 

statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated 

Wash. Rev. Code § 19.86.020. 

105. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of W. Va. Code § 46A-6-lOl, et seq. In particular, West Virginia law 

provides "(7) 'Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices' means 

and includes, but is not limited to, anyone or more of the following: ... (E) Representing that 

goods or services have sponsorship, approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or 

quantities that they do not have ... ; ... (G) Representing that goods or services are of a 

particular standard, quality or grade, or that goods are of a particular style or model if they are of 

another; ... (I) Advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised; ... (L) 

Engaging in any other conduct which similarly creates a likelihood of confusion or of 

misunderstanding; ... (M) The act, use or employment by any person of any deception, fraud, 

false pretense, false promise or misrepresentation, or the concealment, suppression or omission 

of any material fact with intent that others rely upon such concealment, suppression or omission, 

in connection with the sale or advertisement of any goods or services, whether or not any person 

has in fact been misled, deceived or damaged thereby .... " W. Va. Code § 46A-6-l02. By 

selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and 
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properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold 

and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due 

to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers 

about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated W. Va. Code § 46A-6-102. 

106. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, deceptive or fraudulent 

acts or practices in violation of Wis. Stat. § 100.20, et seq. Particularly, Wisconsin law provides, 

"Methods of competition in business and trade practices in business shall be fair. Unfair methods 

of competition in business and unfair trade practices in business are hereby prohibited." Wis. 

Stat. § 100.20(1). By selling the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they 

would accurately and properly render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions 

were defective when sold and that their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in 

part, by the Defect, and due to defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading 

statements to consumers about the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Wis. 

Stat. § 100.20(1). 

107. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, deceptive or fraudulent 

acts or practices in violation of Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 40-12-101, et seq. In particular, Wyoming law 

provides, "(a) A person engages in a deceptive trade practice unlawful under this act when, in the 

course of his business and in connection with a consumer transaction, he knowingly: (i) 

Represents that merchandise has a source, origin, sponsorship, approval, accessories or uses it 

does not have; ... (iii) Represents that merchandise is of a partiCUlar standard, grade, style or 

model, if it is not; ... (x) Advertises merchandise with intent not to sell it as advertised; ... or .. 

. (xv) Engages in unfair or deceptive acts or practices." Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 40-12-105. By selling 

the Televisions to consumers with the representation that they would accurately and properly 

render video programs, without revealing that the Televisions were defective when sold and that 

their screens would eventually be obscured, in whole or in part, by the Defect, and due to 

defendants' improper warranty practices and false and misleading statements to consumers about 

the existence of, and fix for, the Defect, defendants violated Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 40-12-105. 
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108. Plaintiffs and members of the Class have been injured by reason of Sony's unfair 

and deceptive acts and practices in regard to its manufacturing, marketing, sale, and warranty 

practices relating to the defective Televisions. These injuries are of the type that the above State 

consumer protection statutes were designed to prevent, and are the direct result of Sony's 

unlawful conduct. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violation of the Song Beverly Consumer Warranty Act 

(Cal Civ. Code §1792 et seq.) 
(Against All Defendants) 

109. Each of the above allegations is incorporated herein. 

11 0 . Under the Song Beverly Consumer Warranty Act, defendants are required to 

make available replacement parts to effect repairs during the warranty period, and repair defects 

within 30 days. Cal. Civ. Code § 1793.2(a)(3) and (b). 

111. Defendants violated the Song Beverly Consumer Warranty Act by failing to 

provide the effective repair or replacement of the defective Televisions within 30 days. 

112. As provided by the Song Beverly Consumer Warranty Act, plaintiffs, on their 

own behalves and on behalf of the Class, seeks reimbursement of the cost of the defective 

Televisions as well as an award of attorneys' fees. 
SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of Magnuson-Moss Act (15 U.S.C. §2301 et seq.) 
(Against All Defendants) 

113. Each of the above allegations is incorporated herein. 

114. Plaintiffs and the Class are consumers as defined in 15 U.S.C. §2301(3). 

115. Defendants are suppliers and warrantors as defined in 15 U.S.C. §2301(4)(5). 

116. The Televisions are consumer products as defined in 15 U.S.c. §2301(6). 

117. By reason of Sony's breach of its implied warranties and express written 

warranties stating that the Televisions would operate properly, were free from material defects, 

and that it would repair or replace any such defects, defendants have violated the statutory rights 
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due the plaintiffs and the Class pursuant to the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. §2301 

et seq., thereby damaging plaintiffs and the Class. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Breach of Express Warranty 

(Against All Defendants) 

118. Each of the above allegations is incorporated herein. 

119. Sony as the designers, manufacturers, distributors and sellers expressly warranted 

that the Televisions being sold to the general public were not inherently defective. 

120. Sony's affinnations of fact and/or promises relating to the Televisions created 

express warranties that the products purchased by plaintiffs and the Class would operate properly 

and without defects, and would therefore portray video without extraneous artifacts which would 

impair the viewing of the video program. Sony breached the express warranty in that the 

Televisions did not confonn to the promises or affinnations of fact made by Sony to the 

plaintiffs and members of the Class. 

121. Alternatively, Sony's descriptions of the Televisions became part of the bases of 

the bargains between consumers and Sony, creating express warranties that the product 

purchased by plaintiffs and the Class would confonn to Sony's representations. 

122. Further, Sony breached its express warranty by allowing misrepresentations to be 

made and/or omitting infonnation concerning the true condition of the Televisions with the 

intent of making plaintiffs and the members of the Class enter into agreements to purchase the 

Televisions. Sony's express warranty did not include a conspicuous statement about the Defect 

and the unusual early failure ofthe Optical Block. 

123. If plaintiffs and the members of the Class had known the true facts, they would 

not have purchased the Televisions or paid as much as they did for the Televisions. 

124. Despite the fact that the Defect was present in the Television at the time of 

delivery, well within the warranty limitations periods, Sony has refused to pay for labor or 

diagnostic expenses for consumers with Televisions manifesting the Defect more than a year 
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after purchase, and Sony has refused to pay any part of the cost of repairing Televisions which 

manifest the Defect two years after purchase. 

125. Sony's limits on their express warranty are in any case unenforceable as Sony 

knew or should have known that the defective design of the Optical Block would render the time 

limitations in its written warranty grossly inadequate to protect consumers from the Defect, and 

would subject consumers to expensive repair costs. Sony failed to include in its warranty any 

disclosure regarding the existence of the known Defect, or the gross inadequacy of the 

limitations period contained in its written warranty. 

126. The time limits contained in Sony's extended written limited warranties were 

unconscionable because amongst other things, plaintiffs and the members of the Class had no 

meaningful choice in determining those time limitations; the terms of the limited warranties 

unreasonably favored Sony over members of the Class; a gross disparity in bargaining power 

existed as between Sony and Class members; and Sony knew or should have known that the 

Televisions were defective at the time of sale and would fail well before the end of their 

expected useful lives, thereby rendering the time limitations insufficient, inadequate, and 

unconscionable 

127. As a result of the foregoing, plaintiffs and the Class have suffered damages. 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Breach ofImplied Warranty 

(Against All Defendants) 

128. Each of the above allegations is incorporated herein. 

129. Sony's affirmations of fact and/or promises relating to the Televisions created 

implied warranties that the products purchased by plaintiffs and the Class would operate properly 

and without defects, and would therefore portray video without extraneous artifacts that would 

impair the viewing of the video program. 
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130. Alternatively, Sony's descriptions of the Televisions became part of the bases of 

the bargains between consumers and Sony, creating implied warranties that the product 

purchased by plaintiffs and the Class would conform to Sony's representations. 

131. In fact, the products purchased by plaintiffs and the Class did not so conform. 

132. Sony also breached the implied warranty of merchantability implied in that the 

goods could not pass without objection in the trade, the goods were not of fair average quality 

within the description and/or were unfit for their intended and ordinary purpose in that they were 

defective. Sony cannot disclaim this implied warranty as they knowingly sold a defective 

product. 

133. Sony also breached the implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose. 

Based upon plaintiffs' and the Class's skill and judgment and implied warranties of fitness for a 

particular purpose, plaintiffs and Class members unknowingly purchased defective Televisions 

for personal use. 

134. The Televisions were defective when they left the exclusive control of Sony. 

Sony knew that the Televisions would be used without additional tests for defects. The 

Televisions were defective and unfit for their intended purpose and plaintiffs and the members of 

the Class did not receive the goods as warranted. 

135. As a result of the foregoing, plaintiffs and the Class have suffered damages. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment as follows: 

A. Declaring that this action is properly maintainable as a class action and certifying 

plaintiffs as Class representatives; 

B. Awarding damages to plaintiffs and the other Class members for Sony's breach of 

contract; 

C. Awarding restitution and disgorgement as a result of Sony's unfair business 

practices and untrue and misleading advertising; 
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D. Awarding plaintiffs and the Class compensatory and punitive damages as a result 

of defendants' violation of the Consumers Legal Remedies Act and enjoining the defendants 

from continuing their illegal practices set out above; 

E. Requiring Sony to inform the public of the Defect possessed by its Televisions 

and enjoining Sony from refusing to perform its warranty obligations; 

F. Awarding pre- and post-judgment interest; 

G. Awarding attorney fees, expenses, and costs; and 

H. Providing such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 
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JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury. 

DATED: December 5,2008 

L 19h Smi S-9202) 
Sanford P. Dumain (SD-8712) 
Jennifer Czeisler (JC-2054) 
One Pennsylvania Plaza 
New York, NY 10119 
Telephone: (212) 946-9438 
Facsimile: (212) 868-1229 

ROBERT 1. LAX & ASSOCIATES 
Robert 1. Lax (RL-8413) 
380 Lexington Avenue, 31st Floor 
New York, NY 10168 
Telephone: (212) 818-9150 
Facsimile: (212) 818-1266 

LANGE & KONCIUS, LLP 
Joseph J .M. Lange 
Jeffrey A. Koncius (JK-1898) 
222 North Sepulveda Blvd., Suite 1560 
EI Segundo, CA 90245 
Telephone: (310) 414-1880 
Facsimile: (310) 414-1882 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

49 



EXHIBIT 1 



ROBERT I. LAx & ASSOCIATES 
ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELLORS AT LAw 

380 LEXINGTON AVENUE 
31STFL.OOR 

NEW YORK. NEW YORK 10168 

TEL.EPHONE: (21 2) 81 &91 50 
FA)C (212) 81 &1266 

WWW.L.AX-t.AW.COM 

ROBERT I. l-'X 

VIA CERTIFIED U.S. MAIL 
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

Sony Corporation 
clo Nicole Seligman, Esq. 
Executive Vice President and General Counsel 
550 Madison Avenue 
New York, New York 10022 

Sony Corporation of America 
c/o Nicole Seligman, Esq. 
Executive Vice President and General Counsel 
550 Madison Avenue 
New York, New York 10022 

Sony Electronics Inc. 
c/o Ronald Waisinger, Esq. 
16450 W. Bernardo Drive 
San Diego, California 92127 

October 20, 2008 

WRITER'S E'MAIL ADDRESS 
RLAX@LAlH.AW.COM 

WRrrER'S DIRECT FAX: 
(2 t 2.l 2064309 

Re: Meserole et al. v. Sony Corporation of America, Sony Electronics, Inc., and 
Sony Corporation 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

Please be advised that this firm, Milberg LLP, and Lange & Koncius, LLP, represent 
plaintiffs Paul Meserole, Brian Miller, Lawrence Monroe, Rhonda Ploubis, and Alan Streholski, on 
behalf ofthemselves and all others similarly situated in an action against, Sony Corporation, Sony 
Corporation of America, Inc., and Sony Electronics Inc. (collectively referred to hereinafter as 
"Sony"). This notice is being sent to you pursuant to California Civil Code section 1782(a)(2). 

Our clients have filed a class action lawsuit on behalf of all consumers nationwide who 
purchased certain second generation Sony SXRD Rear Projection Televisions including KDS-
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R60XBR2, KDS-R70XBR2, KDS- 50A2000, KDS-55A2000, and KDS60-A2000 (hereinafter "the 
Televisions"). Plaintiffs are alleging through this action that the Televisions they purchased contain 
an inherent defect, in that the Televisions contain a flaw that results in yellow stains, green haze, and 
other video defects to be displayed on the viewing screen. It is further alleged that these video 
irregularities are manifestations of a characteristic defect contained in the optical engine and related 
componentry, and that Sony has been unwilling or unable to permanently correct the defect. 

Despite the above mentioned defects, Sony explicitly represented to consumers that these 
Televisions were in fact defect free, and capable of properly rendering High Definition video. Such 
representations were made as part of Sony's advertising of the products, on the packaging of the 
products, on the products themselves, as well as in the written warranty accompanying the 
Televisions. 

Although Sony has been aware of the defect since no later than 2005, Sony has omitted to 
infonn its consumers of the defect. Sony has failed to disclose the existence of the defect through 
the present day, and has misrepresented the extent and nature of the problem, as well as its ability to 
correct it. 

The above practices constitute violations of California Civil Code section 1770 in the following 
respects: 

(a) In violation ofCaIifornia Civil Code section 1 770(a)(5), Sony misrepresented 
that the Televisions were free from defects, when in fact they contain a significant defect that 
results in the generation of yellow stains, green haze, and other video anomalies across the 
viewing screen; 

(b) In violation of California Civil Code section 1 770(a)(5), Sony represented 
that the Televisions were capable of properly rendering a video program and able to do so 
with a high degree of precision, when in fact they are unable to do so due to the yellow 
stains, green haze, and other video anomalies which interfere with the picture; 

(c) In violation of California Civil Code section 1770(a)(5), Sony represented in 
marketing materials and product manuals that the Televisions had characteristics which they 
did not have, as the Televisions were incapable of properly rendering video without yellow 
stains, green haze, and other video anomalies running across the viewing screen; 

(d) In violation of California Civil Code section 1770(a)(7), Sony represented 
that the Televisions were of a particular standard, namely, that they would properly play 
HDTV and standard definition programming, when in fact they would not without yellow 
stains, green haze, and other video anomalies running across the viewing screen; 

(e) In violation of California Civil Code section I 770(a)(9), Sony advertised the 
Televisions as providing high quality video playback with the intent not to sell the 
Televisions as advertised; 

(f) In violation of California Civil Code section 1770(a)(S), Sony represented 
that the Televisions were capable of high quality, color accurate, video display, when in fact 
they were not; and 

(g) In violation of California Civil Code section 1 770(a)(l4), Sony represented 
and warranted through its descriptions of the televisions that conswners who purchased them 
were conferred rights, remedies and obligations that were not in fact conferred in light of 
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Sony's failure to provide a working television free from defect and its refusal to repair the 
Televisions so that they performed free of the defect. 

In light of the foregoing, and pursuant to California Civil Code section 1782(a)(2), it is 
hereby demanded on behalf of our clients and all others similarly situated nationwide that Sony 
immediately correct, repair, replace, or otherwise rectify the violations of Section 1770, through the 
following actions: that Sony cease and desist from making representations regarding the Televisions 
that are not in fact true, that Sony engage in an advertising campaign which will alert the public to its 
misconceptions about the Televisions at issue, that Sony offer to refund the purchase price paid for 
the defective Televisions, and that Sony develop and offer to correct the inherent defect in its 
Televisions with reimbursement to the consumer for the diminished value, interest, costs and fees, as 
is detailed at length in the operative Complaint. 

Should the above actions not be taken by Sony, and after 30 days from the date of this letter, 
plaintiffs will amend their Complaint to include claims for actual damages, punitive damages and all 
other damages permitted under the Consumers Legal Remedies Act unless appropriate correction, 
repair, replacement, or other remedy is given, or agreed to be given within a reasonable time 
pursuant to California Civil Code section 1782(b). Therefore, in order to avoid further litigation, it is 
in the best interest of alI involved that Sony rectifies the situation immediately. 

Note that in order for Sony to avoid an action for damages, it must do all of the following pursuant to 
California Civil Code section 1782(c): 

I. Identify, or make a reasonable effort to identify, all present and former consumer 
purchasers of the Televisions in question; 

2. Notify all such consumers that, upon their request, Sony will refund their purchase 
price and/or make the correct repairs or replace the Televisions in question or that it 
will provide any other remedy for its improper actions which include, but are not 
limited to, the cost of and repairing any associated damage, plus any diminution in 
value associated with the defect, plus interests, costs and fees; 

3. Perform the correction, repair, replacement, or other remedy as set forth above in a 
reasonable amount of time; and 

4. Cease to engage in the methods, acts or practices outlined at length above. 

To the extent required by and allowed by law, this letter also requests that all necessary 
repairs and associated damages be made and paid to members of the class for Sony's breach of its 
express and implied warranties as a result of the defects outlined above. 

Finally, a more detailed explanation of the problems with the Televisions are set forth in the 
class action Complaint that has been filed in the United States District Court, Southern District of 
New York, bearing case no. 08 Civ. 8987. Should you not already have a copy of that Complaint, 
kindly contact my office so that it may be provided to both you and your client forthwith. 
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Thank you for your consideration of this matter. We look forward to hearing from you. 

Very truly yours, 
Robert I. Lax & Associates 

~ 
Robert L Lax, Esq. 

Cert no. 7004 1350000454345577 (Sony Corporation) 
Cert no. 7004 1350000454345584 (Sony Corporation of America) 
Cert no. 7004 1350 0004 5434 5560 (Sony Electronics Inc.) 
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